RECEIVED

Dec 18 2025

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

ON A WRIT OF CERTIORARI FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM GEORGETOWN COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Joe M. Crosby  
Master-in-Equity

Appellate Case No. 2025-001557

South Carolina Board of Financial Institutions ..... Respondent,  
v.  
CDM Corporation, Inc., and Guardian Fiduciary Services, LLC ..... Petitioners.

BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

WOMBLE BOND DICKINSON (US) LLP

M. Todd Carroll  
S.C. Bar No. 74000  
todd.carroll@wbd-us.com  
1221 Main Street, Suite 1600  
Columbia, South Carolina 29201  
803.454.6504

Molly M. McDermid  
S.C. Bar No. 104695

## STATEMENT OF ISSUE

South Carolina Code § 34-21-10 gives the South Carolina Board of Financial Institutions (the “Bank Board”) authority to regulate companies engaged in a “trust business.” The circuit court held that this two-word phrase means “a business involved with the administration of trusts.” (Appx. 11.) The Attorney General also endorsed this limited scope of the agency’s authority. (Appx. 223.)

The Court of Appeals disagreed. It expanded the phrase “trust business” to now give the agency regulatory authority over all entities that provide any type of fiduciary services, not just “trusts,” including all such fiduciaries who are appointed by the Probate Court to provide services to South Carolina’s most vulnerable citizens: guardians, conservators, personal representatives, agents, and those providing power-of-attorney services, to name just five. (Appx. 359, 363.)

Did the Court of Appeals err when it expanded the scope of the Bank Board’s jurisdiction by construing the phrase “trust business” to mean that “all institutional fiduciaries”—including, but not limited to, those companies who serve as guardians, conservators, personal representatives, agents, or provide any other non-trustee fiduciary service at the direction of the Probate Court—are now subject to the regulatory jurisdiction of the Bank Board?

## STATUTE AT ISSUE

The statute at issue is South Carolina Code § 34-21-10, which reads as follows:

**SECTION 34-21-10.** Written approval from State Board of Bank Control is required to conduct trust business.

No corporation, partnership or other person shall conduct a trust business in this State without first making a written application to the State Board of Bank Control and receiving written approval from the Board. Before any such application shall be approved, the Board shall make an investigation to determine whether or not the applicant has complied with all the provisions of law, whether in the judgment of the Board the applicant is qualified to conduct such a business and whether the conduct of such a business would serve the public interest, taking into consideration local circumstances and conditions at the place where such applicant proposes to do business; provided, however, that any person actively engaged in conducting a trust business in this State on January 1, 1972, shall not be required to make the application and receive the approval provided for herein. Provided, further, that nothing contained in this section shall prevent a natural person or a national banking association having its principal place of business in this State from qualifying and acting as trustee, executor, administrator, guardian, committee or in any other fiduciary capacity.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The South Carolina Probate Code contains a comprehensive set of laws for administering and protecting the “affairs of decedents, missing persons, protected persons, minors, and incapacitated persons.” S.C. Code Ann. § 62-1-102(b)(1). The General Assembly also established a specialized court—the Probate Court—to exercise “exclusive original jurisdiction over all subject matter” related to issues governed by the Probate Code. *Id.* § 62-1-302(a).

Probate courts have broad powers to appoint fiduciaries to assist and protect those persons who fall within their jurisdiction, including, for example, “guardians,” *id.* § 62-1-201(15); “conservators,” *id.* § 62-1-201(6); and “personal representatives,” *id.* § 62-1-201(33). But often, the people needing the protections afforded by the Probate Code do not have a family member or friend available with the resources, skills, or even willingness to serve in a fiduciary capacity.

The Petitioners—CDM Corporation, Inc., Guardian Fiduciary Services, LLC—and other for-profit and not-for-profit companies like them fill this critical gap. They provide a suite of fiduciary services to elderly, disabled, or otherwise compromised individuals of South Carolina: guardianship, conservatorship, personal representative, and power-of-attorney services. (Appx. 202; Mantell Aff. ¶ 4.) CDM and Guardian are often called when vulnerable individuals—for instance, a patient in a coma, a severely drug-addicted minor, or a mentally-ill person—have no one else to protect their interests. (Appx. 203; *id.* ¶¶ 8–9.) Nearly all of CDM and Guardian’s clients are referred by licensed South Carolina attorneys, and the companies are then formally appointed to serve by judges of the South Carolina Probate Court. (Appx. 202; *id.* ¶ 5.)

Because of the critical role fiduciaries play under the Probate Code, South Carolina’s probate judges routinely utilize companies like CDM and Guardian to serve as non-trustee fiduciaries for “vulnerable persons with limited financial means, persons suffering from physical or mental disabilities, or for those persons whom have no relative or family member that is willing, capable or qualified to serve.” (Appx. 214; Judge Carter Aff. ¶ 12.)

Prior to this lawsuit, companies providing non-trustee fiduciary services—like the Petitioners—typically functioned at the appointment of and under the oversight of the Probate Court. Years ago, the Bank Board confirmed to the Petitioners’ principal that their provision of these fiduciary services did not amount to a “trust business” subject to the agency’s jurisdiction. (Appx. 203.) And it was right to do so, as the Legislature created the Bank Board only to “supervise all banks and building and loan associations,” not guardians or conservators. S.C. Code Ann. § 34-1-60. Within that scope, the General Assembly gave the agency authority over companies who operate a “trust business,” *id.* § 34-21-10, which the Legislature generally described as companies that invest in and maintain “common trust funds,” *id.* §§ 34-21-210 to -430.

But for reasons unknown, the Bank Board has now changed its position. On October 26, 2020, the Bank Board filed this action in circuit court in Georgetown County, in which it sought a declaration that CDM and Guardian’s non-trustee fiduciary services rendered them an “unlawful trust business,” along with an injunction prohibiting them from “serving as conservator, guardian, attorney-in-fact in accordance with a power of attorney, personal representative or executor, and trustee of a trust, as well as holding themselves out as providing these services.” (Appx. 18–26; Compl. ¶¶ 24–39.)

The Petitioners counterclaimed, seeking a declaratory judgment that the statutory term “trust business” means exactly that—a “business” involved in the administration of “trusts”—and that their service in other non-trustee fiduciary roles did not constitute “trust business” subject to the Board’s authority. (Appx. 27–38; Ans. & Countercl. ¶¶ 25–37).

On consent motion by the parties, Judge Culbertson referred the case to Judge Crosby, the Georgetown County Master-in-Equity, for resolution. (Appx. 4; Consent Order of Reference). On August 22, 2022, the parties filed competing motions for summary judgment. (Appx. 45–184; Bank Board’s Motion for Summary Judgment and Accompanying Exhibits; Appx. 185–224; Petitioners’ Motion for Summary Judgment and Accompanying Exhibits.)

The circuit court decided the motions without a hearing, finding that the statute means precisely what CDM and Guardian argued. The circuit court held that the term “trust business” regulated by the Bank Board must involve administration of a “trust,” and that CDM and Guardian’s service as guardian, conservator, personal representative, executor, or attorney-in-fact did not constitute a “trust business.” (Appx. 7–15.)

The circuit court’s decision matched the Bank Board’s historic understanding of its limited authority. (Appx. 203; Mantell Aff. ¶ 12.) It matched what the Attorney General historically

advised the public and the agency itself. (Appx. 223; 1996 S.C. AG LEXIS 25, at \*7 (Feb. 9, 1996).) It matched the Legislature’s historic distinction between “fiduciary corporations” and “trust business.” 1930 S.C. Acts No. 821, § 1. And it matched the overall structure of Title 21 of the State Bank Code, which is aimed at regulating companies that invest in “common trust funds.”

The Board sought reconsideration of the circuit court’s decision on November 14, 2022. (Appx. 228; Motion for Partial Reconsideration.) The circuit court denied that motion on December 20, 2022. (Appx. 16; Order Denying Plaintiff’s Motion for Partial Reconsideration.)

The Board timely appealed, and the Court of Appeals reversed in an unpublished opinion, in which it held that the phrase “trust business” means “*all* institutional fiduciaries fall within BOFI’s regulatory authority.” (Appx. 359 (emphasis supplied by the Court of Appeals).)

The Petitioners timely sought rehearing, while the Board moved to publish the Court of Appeals’ decision. The Court of Appeals denied both rehearing and the publication request on July 3, 2025. The Petitioners sought certiorari review, which this Court granted on November 18, 2025.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

This appeal involves a question of statutory interpretation, which is reviewed *de novo*. *Books-A-Million, Inc. v. S.C. DOR*, 437 S.C. 640, 642, 880 S.E.2d 476, 477 (2022).

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **I. The Court of Appeals improperly ignored the plain meaning of the statutory phrase “trust business” to expand the Bank Board’s jurisdiction.**

This case should begin and end with the plain language of the statute limiting the Bank Board’s authority to regulate certain businesses. The South Carolina Banking Code provides that “[n]o corporation, partnership, or other person shall conduct a *trust business* in this State without first making a written application to the State Board of Bank Control and receiving written approval from the Board.” S.C. Code Ann. § 34-21-10 (emphasis added).

“The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and effectuate the intent of the legislature.” *Rainey v. Hailey*, 404 S.C. 320, 323, 745 S.E.2d 81, 82 (2013). Where the statute’s language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed, and a court has no right to impose another meaning. *See Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000) (“Under the plain meaning rule, it is not the court’s place to change the meaning of a clear and unambiguous statute”).

This ironclad rule of law controls here. The circuit court held that the term “trust business” means exactly what these two words say: “a business involved with the administration of trusts.” (Appx. 11.) This plain-language analysis is what both the Bank Board and the Attorney General had always understood this term to mean. (Appx. 203, 223.)

Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals disregarded this cardinal rule. Instead of accepting the simple, straightforward plain language meaning of “trust business” as the circuit court did, the Court of Appeals engaged in a tortured seven-page explanation of why the phrase “trust business” must mean something far greater than “the business” of “trusts.” (Appx. 357–363.)

Standing alone, the Court of Appeals’ resort to numerous analytical tools to rewrite and expand the phrase “trust business” is error and should be reversed. *See City of Camden v. Brassell*, 326 S.C. 556, 560, 486 S.E.2d 492, 494–95 (Ct. App. 1997) (“If a statute’s language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, there is no occasion for employing rules of statutory interpretation and the court has no right to look for or impose another meaning.”).

## **II. Every norm of statutory construction rejects the Court of Appeals’ expansion of the agency’s jurisdiction.**

By wrongly disregarding the plain-meaning rule in favor of other tools of statutory interpretation, the Court of Appeals overlooked and failed to account for the most basic norms of statutory construction, all of which reinforce the circuit court’s reading of the law.

**Usual and Customary Meaning.** The General Assembly did not define the specific phrase “trust business” in the Bank Code. Where the Legislature does not define a statutory term, courts must interpret the term according to its “usual and customary meaning.” *Adoptive Parents v. Biological Parents*, 315 S.C. 535, 543, 446 S.E.2d 404, 409 (1994).

Here, the “usual and customary” definition of a “trust business” is a business involved with the administration of trusts, just as the circuit court held below; this is hornbook law. *See, e.g.*, 9 C.J.S. *Banks and Banking* § 650 (“It has been said that the primary and ordinary conception of a *trust company* is a corporation or institution organized to *take and administer trusts*, rather than carry on the ordinary functions of banking.”) (emphasis added).

A 1996 Attorney General Opinion—authored by the current S.C. Solicitor General Emeritus—agrees. The opinion concludes that a “trust business” means “taking, accepting, administering and executing *trusts*,” not simply taking on any fiduciary responsibility. (Appx. 223; 1996 S.C. AG LEXIS 25, at \*7 (Feb. 9, 1996) (emphasis added).) That opinion surveyed courts nationally that have reached this exact same understanding. *See id.* at \*2–3 (citing *Carney v. Sam Houston Underwriters*, 272 S.W.2d 942, 946 (Tex. Civ. App. 1954), for the proposition that “the ordinary conception of a *trust company* as being one authorized to *take and administer trusts*”) (emphasis added); *id.* at \*5 (“In *Goss and Hamlyn Howe v. State*, 285 P.2d 428, 431 (Okla. 1955), the Court cited Webster’s *New International Dictionary* (2d ed. Unabridged) defining a ‘*trust company*’ as ‘any corporation found for the purpose of acting as *trustee*.’”) (emphasis added).

**Cannot Add to a Statute.** The statutory phrase controlling this case is “trust business.” It is a simple two-word phrase that, as noted above, traditionally means being in the business of administering trusts. In rejecting this straightforward understanding of the term, the Court of Appeals held that this phrase is inclusive of “all” fiduciary roles. (Appx. 359.) In short, the Court

of Appeals held the word “trust” doesn’t just mean “trust,” but that “trust” means “personal representative and guardian and conservator and agent pursuant to a power of attorney and all other fiduciary roles.”

The Court of Appeals had no authority to add to or alter the plain language of a statute. *See, e.g., Ballard v. Newberry County*, 432 S.C. 526, 532, 854 S.E.2d 848, 851 (Ct. App. 2021) (“We are not at liberty to add to the statutory law or subtract from it.”). The General Assembly did not vest the Bank Board with jurisdiction to govern “personal representatives” and “guardians” and “conservators” and “agents pursuant to a power of attorney” and “other fiduciary roles.” Instead, it gave the Bank Board limited authority to regulate companies who administer “trusts.”

**Inclusion of “Trusts” Means Exclusion of Other Types of Fiduciaries.** As a corollary, if the General Assembly had intended to give the Bank Board broad authority to regulate any entity that provides any possible fiduciary services, it certainly could have said so. In fact, it has legislated heavily regarding other types of fiduciaries throughout the State Code. *See, e.g.,* S.C. Code Ann. §§ 62-5-201 to -310, *id.* §§ 62-5-701 to -716 (addressing guardians); *id.* §§ 62-5-401 to -431 (addressing conservators); *id.* §§ 62-5-501 to -518 (addressing agents acting through a healthcare power of attorney). But the General Assembly did not identify any type of fiduciary beyond “trusts” when shaping the scope of the Bank Board’s authority.

When a statute specifically includes one item, courts construe the law to necessarily exclude all other items that the legislature did not include. *See Hodges*, 341 S.C. at 86, 533 S.E.2d at 582 (“The canon of construction ‘*expressio unius est exclusio alterius*’ or ‘*inclusio unius est exclusio alterius*’ holds that ‘to express or include one thing implies the exclusion of another, or of the alternative.’” (quoting Black’s Law Dictionary 602 (7th ed. 1999))).

The Legislature even wrote this principle directly into the law. South Carolina Code § 34-21-20 authorizes the agency to examine and regulate “trust companies, and fiduciary corporations authorized to conduct trust business.” By listing separately (1) trust companies and (2) fiduciary corporations, the General Assembly explicitly recognized not all “fiduciary corporations” are engaged in “trust business.” This statutory distinction goes back nearly a hundred years: “All State banks, trust companies, and fiduciary corporations *doing a trust business*, shall be subject to examination by the State banking department.” 1930 S.C. Acts No. 821, § 1 (emphasis added).

Both the current Bank Code and decades of South Carolina legislation have made clear not only that fiduciary corporations may operate and engage in business other than “trust business,” but that the General Assembly only intended to grant the Bank Board regulatory authority over “trust companies” and fiduciary corporations engaged in “trust business”—not “*all* institutional fiduciaries,” irrespective of the fiduciary roles they actually perform, as the Court of Appeals held. (Appx. 359 (emphasis supplied by the Court of Appeals).) Accordingly, the Court of Appeals’ reading of “trust business” is not only inconsistent with the statute itself, but it manufactures a contradiction within the Bank Code. A judicial construction that creates an internal conflict within a statute cannot be allowed to stand.

**Statute as a Whole.** Instead of giving the phrase “trust business” its plain-language meaning, the Court of Appeals isolated the last sentence of Section 34-21-10 from the rest of the entire statutory scheme and placed disproportionate and out-of-context weight on that single sentence to give the phrase “trust business” an expansive construction. (Appx. 357–360.)

That sentence has a very particular purpose. It provides that the statutory scheme regulating companies that invest in common trust funds and a statutory provision grandfathering in companies engaged in “trust business” as of January 1, 1972, do not somehow create an impediment for “a

natural person or a national bank association having a principal place of business in this State from qualifying and acting as trustee, executor, administrator, guardian, committee or in any other fiduciary capacity.” S.C. Code Ann. § 34-21-10. Rather than recognizing the limited utility this sentence plays in the statutory scheme, the Court of Appeals disregarded traditional rules of statutory construction and focused on that single final sentence to reach a result that broadly expanded the plain meaning of the two-word phrase “trust business.”

First, the Court of Appeals’ analysis isolated of the last sentence from (1) the rest of that same section, which limits the Bank Board’s authority to companies involved in a “trust business”; (2) the rest of Chapter 21, which makes clear that the Bank Board’s jurisdiction is designed to reach companies that invest in “common trust funds”; and (3) the rest of the South Carolina Code as a whole, which repeatedly distinguishes between “trustees” and all other types of fiduciaries. This is improper. Words and phrases within a statute must not be finely sliced, but instead must be read as a whole “in a sense which harmonizes with its subject matter and accords with its general purpose” *Smith v. S.C. Ins. Co.*, 350 S.C. 82, 87, 564 S.E.2d 358, 361 (Ct. App. 2002) (internal citations omitted). By dissociating this single sentence from the whole, the Court of Appeals assigned it a different meaning and greater significance than the rest of the section.

Second, the Court of Appeals misunderstood the purpose of Section 34-21-10’s final sentence. It was added through a 1972 amendment to Section 34-21-10, and it was not designed to expand the definition of “trust business” to all types of fiduciaries.

Instead, this final sentence served to harmonize South Carolina law with the federal legislation passed before it. The last sentence of Section 34-21-10 tracks the language of 12 U.S.C. § 92a, which provides that national banks have the same fiduciary authority allowed at the state and local level, which can include trustee, executor, administrator, guardian, and “any other

fiduciary capacity in which State banks, trust companies, or other corporations which come into competition with national banks are permitted to act.” 12 U.S.C. § 92a.

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