RECEIVED

Feb 09 2026

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM GEORGETOWN COUNTY

The Honorable Joe M. Crosby, Master-in-Equity

Appellate Case No. 2025-001557

South Carolina Board of Financial Institutions, Respondent,

v.

CDM Corporation, Inc. and Guardian Fiduciary Services, LLC, Petitioners.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Shawn D. Eubanks
Christopher A. Majure, Sr.
Matthew D. Houck
1200 Senate Street, Suite 214
Wade Hampton Office Building
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 734-2623

R. Walker Humphrey, II
**WILLOUGHBY HUMPHREY &
D'ANTONI, P.A.**
133 River Landing Drive, Suite 200
Charleston, South Carolina 29492
(843) 619-4426

Elizabeth Zeck

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

D. In licensing and regulating businesses which serve as conservator, guardian, personal representative, and agent, the Board protects vulnerable South Carolinians in ways that the Probate Court cannot.

As a backstop should their legal arguments fail, Petitioners make an emotional appeal. They contend that the Probate Court adequately oversees fiduciaries and requiring Board registration and oversight imposes an undue financial burden on these firms which will result in lost services to vulnerable South Carolinians. The Board is not blind to those concerns. But protecting South

Carolina's most vulnerable citizens is *why* the General Assembly exercised its discretion to require an additional layer of oversight.

Nothing prevents the Mantells from offering these services in their individual capacities. But they want to offer them under the benefits of the corporate form and behind the corporate veil with none of the corresponding burdens. The General Assembly rightly gave the Board jurisdiction over corporate entities which provide these services under liability shields. If the Mantells wish to continue serving as fiduciaries under the Petitioners' corporate shield, they must pay the necessary fees and allow the Board to determine whether they are well-equipped and adequately capitalized to do so.

And while Petitioners contend that the probate courts have "full authority to monitor" appointed fiduciaries, Pet. Br. at 16, the courts' authority only extends so far. In fact, the court is expressly excused from such comprehensive oversight. *E.g.*, S.C. Code Ann. § 62-5-309(B) ("Nothing herein shall require the court to oversee the plan of care [implemented by a guardian][.]"); S.C. Code Ann. § 62-5-414(B) ("Nothing herein shall require the court to oversee or approve the conservator's investment choices[.]"). The probate court—and indeed, the judicial branch in general—cannot examine an entire entity's fiscal stability or the company's compliance procedures and internal controls. A probate court's authority does not extend to reviewing the collective effect of a company's state-wide slate of appointments outside an individual probate court's jurisdiction. But the Board's authority does. App. 54–55. That review is necessary to protect the interests of those needing corporate fiduciaries from the risks posed by undercapitalized and unscrupulous companies. Section 34-21-10 therefore does not create a "gap," as Petitioners contend. Pet. Br. at 16–17. It fills a need for oversight which the probate courts cannot provide.

Petitioners further appeal to emotion by misdirecting the issue to Petitioners' ability to make decisions for others regarding travel, voting, and driving. *See* Pet. Br. at 20. But this case is not about those decisions. It is about companies which have the power to “buy, sell, or transfer real or personal property or transact business” on behalf of others. *Id.* at 19. Companies which can “make, modify, or terminate contracts” on behalf of others. *Id.* Companies which can “bring or defend any action at law or equity” on behalf of others. *Id.* Petitioners provide all those services as corporate entities.

As a final Hail Mary, Petitioners claim another “gap” exists because, in their view, the Board's application manual does not allow corporate fiduciaries like themselves to even apply for “trust powers.” Pet. Br. at 16–17. There are several problems with this argument. First, the manual is not part of the appellate record, and Petitioners did not make this argument until their Petition for Rehearing before the Court of Appeals. App. 371, 376. It therefore is unpreserved. *Herron v. Century BMW*, 395 S.C. 461, 469, 719 S.E.2d 640, 644 (2011). Second, their reliance on the manual is ironic given their argument that the Court cannot rely on the Board's alleged interpretation of § 34-21-10. *See supra* pp. 23–26. Further, this argument elevates form over substance—literally, a government form above explicit statutory provisions. The Board has no power to change the scope of § 34-21-10 through the title of an application form. *See* Pet. Br. at 13 n.1 (“[E]ven an actual regulation that is properly promulgated through the rulemaking process cannot alter or expand an agency's authority that is set by statute.”).

Petitioners' claim regarding the manual is also false. Page 1 of the Board's Applications Manual lists “Trust Companies” as one of the charters issued by the Board, and cites Section 34-21-10 as the applicable law. Page 2 of the Applications Manual references and gives a link to the

Trust Company Application. Likewise, the applicant must declare the “trust powers to be exercised” by selecting from a list which includes “Trustee,” “Executor or Administrator,” “Conservator,” “Guardian,” “Agent,” among other options. *See* <https://banking.sc.gov/industry-information/applications-and-forms>. In other words, the Board’s form incorporates a correct interpretation of its jurisdiction under § 34-21-10 which encompasses all corporate entities providing fiduciary services.

III. To the extent Petitioners’ strawman administrative deference argument is even germane to this case, it fails as a matter of law.

Petitioners devote a substantial portion of their brief to attacking an interpretive tool which the Court of Appeals did not use: administrative deference. Pet. Br. at 12–15. This Court need not take the bait. But even if the Court reaches this issue, reliance on prior Board interpretations of § 34-21-10 is proper.

A. The Court of Appeals did not defer to the Board’s interpretation of “trust business.”

Petitioners’ argument centers on a Policy Statement which the Board issued and an interstate compact regarding the regulation of trust businesses. The Court of Appeals mentioned the Policy Statement once during its factual and procedural history, App. 356, but never again cited it. Likely for this reason, Petitioners made no argument about the Policy Statement in their petition for rehearing. *See* App. 368–81. The argument therefore is unpreserved. *Herron*, 395 S.C. at 469, 719 S.E.2d at 644. Also, there is nothing for this Court to review because the Court of Appeals made no relevant rulings or findings adopting or even applying the Policy Statement.

As to the nationwide compact, the Court of Appeals similarly did not cite it as providing any interpretation, guidance, or determination by the Board. Nor could the court have done so, because the document explains that it is not intended to change state law or “determine what

activities a multi-state trust institution may conduct in a host state, with or without licensing or registration.” App. 114; *see also* App. 121 (“Nothing in this Agreement is intended or shall be construed to preempt or otherwise contravene applicable state law governing multi-state trust institutions except to the extent, if any, explicitly adopted and given the force of law by a state supervisory agency with state law authority to do so.”). Instead, the court cited it only as evidence of the ordinary and customary meaning of the term “trust business.” App. 359–60; *see also supra* pp. 17–19 (analyzing the ordinary and customary meaning of “trust business”). Petitioners’ argument that the Court of Appeals’ reliance on the compact for this limited purpose had the effect of “expanding the [] Board’s jurisdiction through the Judiciary and outside the legislative process,” “violated basic separation of powers,” and was the “overreach” which Chief Justice Kittredge warned against elsewhere is untethered from the record.

This Court should not countenance Petitioners’ attempts to create an issue where none exists and should decline to reach the question of deference.

B. Ironically, Petitioners ask this Court to “defer to” alleged prior administrative interpretations of “trust business.”

While claiming that the Board’s official position deserves no consideration when interpreting the statute it administers, Petitioners simultaneously point to an unverified remark from a former Commissioner of Banking to claim that their fiduciary activities should be forever free from regulation. This position is unsupported by South Carolina law.

Generally, equitable estoppel does not lie against the government to prevent the due exercise of its police power or to thwart the application of public policy. *S.C. Dep’t of Soc. Servs. v. Parker*, 275 S.C. 176, 178, 268 S.E.2d 282, 238 (1980); *see also Grant v. City of Folly Beach*, 346 S.C. 74, 80, 551 S.E.2d 229, 232 (2001). “Administrative officers of the state cannot estop the state

through mistaken statements of law.” *Greenville Cnty. v. Kenwood Enters.*, 353 S.C. 157, 172, 577 S.E.2d 428, 436 (2003). Specifically, “[e]stoppel will not lie against a government entity where a government employee gives erroneous information in contradiction of statute. Simply stated, equity follows the law.” *Morgan v. S.C. Budget & Control Bd.*, 377 S.C. 315, 319, 659 S.E.2d 263, 267 (Ct. App. 2008) (internal citation omitted). Estoppel therefore typically does not lie based on representations by agency staff. *E.g.*, *Quail Hill LLC v. County of Richland*, 387 S.C. 223, 237, 692 S.E.2d 499, 506 (2010) (“[T]o estop [the] County from enforcing [its zoning laws] would be in direct contravention of the general rule that a governmental entity may not be estopped by the unauthorized or erroneous conduct or statements of its officers or agents.”).

Petitioners claim then-Commissioner of Banking Louie Jacobs told them that their fiduciary services were not “trust business” requiring Board registration and approval. Commissioner Jacobs, however, lacked unilateral authority to set Board policy. The Board may delegate certain ministerial functions to the Commissioner of Banking. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 34-1-220 (“[T]he board may delegate to the Commissioner of Banking its authority to receive applications, develop necessary forms, issue certificates or correspondence on behalf of the board, conduct examinations, request additional information or documentation from applicants, approve articles of incorporation, and establish capital requirements and other standards for the safety and soundness of bank operations.”). But Commissioner Jacobs was not “authorized to interpret or alter” the statutory registration requirement. “[T]rust companies[] and fiduciary corporations authorized to conduct a trust business in this State are ... subject to rules and regulations promulgated by the board,” not oral statements of the Commissioner of Banking. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 34-21-20. Petitioners do not and cannot contend that they consulted the Board itself before conducting their

unregistered fiduciary activities. “Because the erroneous [legal] information relied on by [Petitioners] was conveyed by unauthorized individuals, the doctrine of equitable estoppel may not, as a matter of law, be invoked against [the Board].” *Quail Hill*, 387 S.C. at 237, 692 S.E.2d at 507.

Petitioners also mistakenly argue that their interpretation “match[es] what the Attorney General historically advised the public and the agency itself” and is what the Attorney General “had always understood [trust business] to mean.” Pet. Br. at 4–5, 6; *see also id.* at 7 (discussing a 1996 letter¹ from then-Assistant Deputy Attorney General Robert Cook). But that is *not* what the referenced document said. This letter from 1996 only suggested that a corporation which was “fairly inactive” but served as a conservator, personal representative, and trustee of some trusts in 1972 was grandfathered under § 34-21-10 and therefore did not need to register with the Board. App. 223–24. And in considering whether the company had conducted continuous “trust business” as a “trust company,” the letter acknowledges the various fiduciary roles associated with a trust company under South Carolina law:

It is also said that a “trust company” is a corporation formed for the purpose of taking, executing and administering all such trusts as may be lawfully committed to it and acting as testamentary trustee, executor, guardian, etc.

The foregoing definitions are consistent with those set forth in Title 34 of the Code. See, e.g. Sections 34-21-20 through -70; Section 34-21-210 (1) [definition of “trust institution”]; Section 34-21-220 et seq [“common trust funds”].

App. 223. In any event, the principal question was not whether the company conducted a trust business, but whether it had a sufficiently “active” business to be grandfathered. *Id.* The letter

¹ This letter was “an informal opinion only. It has been written by a designated Assistant Deputy Attorney General and represents the position of the undersigned attorney as to the specific questions asked. It has not, however, been personally scrutinized by the Attorney General nor officially published in the manner of a formal opinion.” App. 224.

concluded that 34-21-10 “does not require any particular level of transacting trust business in order to be entitled to be ‘grandfathered.’” App. 224.

C. If the Court reaches the question of deference, it is proper to defer to the Board’s prior findings that “trust business” includes all corporate fiduciary roles.

Petitioners argue that administrative deference is improper under the United States Supreme Court’s decision in *Loper Bright Enterprises v. Raimondo*, 603 U.S. 369 (2024). Pet. Br. at 14. Although our Court of Appeals has noted it is “cognizant of” *Loper Bright*, the existence of that recent federal decision does not negate a century of independent South Carolina law. *See Colonial Pipeline Co. v. S.C. DOR*, 443 S.C. 448, 458–59, 905 S.E.2d 129, 134–35 (Ct. App. 2024). In *Colonial Pipeline* itself, the Court of Appeals rejected the Administrative Law Judge’s conclusions and instead adopted the statutory interpretation advanced by the administrative agency—there, the Department of Revenue—finding that its interpretation of the disputed term “industrial plant” was reasonable and should be followed. *Id.* at 459–62, 905 S.E.2d at 135–36.

As the South Carolina Attorney General’s Office noted in its amicus brief filed with the Court of Appeals, South Carolina’s administrative deference doctrine is long-standing and independent of federal derivation.² It can be traced back to two cases from the 1930s: *Read Phosphate Co. v. S.C. Tax Comm’n*, 169 S.C. 314, 168 S.E. 722 (1933) and *Stovall v. Sawyer*, 181 S.C. 379, 187 S.E. 821 (1936). *See Kiawah Dev. Partners, II v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Env’t Control*, 411 S.C. 16, 32, 766 S.E.2d 707, 718 (2014) (discussing origins of deference doctrine in South Carolina). Nearly 100 years ago, the *Read* court found that “construction given to a statute by those charged with the duty of executing it is always entitled to the most respectful consideration, and ought not

² Petitioners did not include this amicus brief in the Appendix. If the Court is inclined to reach this issue, the Board commends the brief to the Court’s attention.

to be overruled without cogent reasons.” 169 S.C. 314, 168 S.E. at 728. South Carolina law applies agency deference in two situations: when the statute is ambiguous, *see Kiawah Dev. Partners*, 411 S.C. at 32, 766 S.E.2d at 717, or when there are gaps in the statute, *Young v. S.C. Dep’t of Public Transp.*, 287 S.C. 108, 113, 336 S.E.2d 879, 882 (Ct. App. 1985) (agencies are “implicitly authorized” to “interpret, clarify and explain” or to “fill up the details” of statutes they administer).

Because the term “trust business” is undefined, the Attorney General’s Office correctly argued that “some degree of deference” should be afforded to the Board’s interpretation of its own statutes. Both before and during this case, the Board has maintained that entities serving as conservator, guardian, personal representative, or agent are engaged in a “trust business.” *E.g.*, App. 55, 59–64, 104–105. Petitioners cite no law limiting administrative deference to only material which has gone through a formal rulemaking process. They only cite cases and statutes stating that agency regulations cannot conflict with the law and that only formal regulations have the force and effect of law. Pet. Br. at 13 & n.1. But that is beside the point. The Board does not argue that its past interpretations have the force and effect of law. And of course, the Board maintains that they do not conflict with the statute; they merely apply the statutory language to clearly articulate a rule which Petitioners have taken great efforts to muddle.

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